THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jan 21 2021**

APPEAL FROM FAIRFIELD COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-001171

---

Michael Clayton, Jr.

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

Dayne C. Phillips, Esq.  
SC Bar No. 77712  
Price Benowitz LLP  
1614 Taylor Street, Suite D  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 807-0234  
Attorney for Petitioner

**Other Counsel of Record:**

Michael D. Davidson, Esq.  
SC Bar No. 104114  
Assistant Attorney General  
1000 Assembly Street, Room 519

## **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

- I. Did the PCR Court err in finding Plea Counsel provided effective assistance of counsel when Counsel failed to conduct a reasonable investigation and to develop all available, relevant, and admissible or mitigating evidence in preparation for trial by not attempting to interview or subpoena material or character witnesses?
  
- II. Did the PCR Court err in finding Petitioner knowingly and voluntarily pled guilty when Plea Counsel failed to adequately prepare for trial based on an unreasonable trial strategy, provided coercive advice to plead guilty on the morning of trial, and failed to fully advise Petitioner of the sentencing consequences?
  
- III. Did the PCR Court violate the separation of powers doctrine by adopting the State's proposed order of dismissal when this independent judicial function cannot be delegated to an executive agency without providing specific rationale for denying each claim and for omitting relevant testimony, findings of fact, and conclusions of law?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### ***Indictments***

On August 21 and October 16, 2018, the Fairfield County Grand Jury issued indictments against Petitioner for two counts of Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor, Second Degree (2018-GS-20-00181 and 00265). The Sixth Circuit Solicitor's Office subsequently presented an amended indictment to the Grand Jury for Indictment No. 2018-GS-20-00181 on June 19, 2018. (App. 329 – 334).

### ***Morning of Trial / Plea Hearing***

On August 27, 2018, Petitioner initially proceeded to trial but ultimately appeared before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III, and pled guilty pursuant to *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25 (1970). (App. 1 – 19). George Speedy, Esq., represented Petitioner at the plea hearing, and Assistant Solicitor Julie Hall appeared on behalf of the State. The Plea Court imposed concurrent sentences of five (5) years imprisonment, suspended upon five (5) years of probation for each conviction. (App. 17, line 23 – 18, line 3; App. 335 – 336).

Petitioner did not file a Notice of Appeal.

### ***PCR Applications and the State's Return***

On March 19, 2019, Petitioner filed his first application requesting Post-Conviction Relief (PCR) (2019-CP-20-0109). (App. 20 – 28). The South Carolina Attorney General's Office filed a Return to the PCR application on July 8, 2019. (App. 29 – 34). Petitioner subsequently filed Amended PCR applications on January 16 and 22, 2020. (App. 35 – 44; App. 45 – 54). Petitioner raised the following allegations without objection from the State:

- (1) Petitioner did not voluntarily, knowingly, or intelligently plead guilty pursuant to *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25 (1970);

- (2) Plea Counsel failed to conduct a reasonable investigation and to develop all available, relevant, and admissible or mitigating evidence in preparation of Petitioner's defense;
- (3) Plea Counsel failed to adequately prepare for trial by not interviewing witnesses who could have testified regarding Petitioner's good character and reputation when it was reasonable and necessary to present this evidence at trial and request a jury instruction on good character and reputation.
- (4) Plea Counsel failed to conduct a reasonable investigation for not interviewing the law enforcement officer who received the report filed in Newberry County by the victim's biological father and for not conducting any further investigation into this complaint when this law enforcement agency did not pursue charges against Petitioner.
- (5) Petitioner involuntarily pled guilty based on Plea Counsel's failure to adequately prepare for trial, Counsel's decision to change his unreasonable trial strategy immediately before trial, and Counsel's erroneous and unduly coercive advice to plead guilty the morning of trial.
- (6) Petitioner involuntarily pled guilty based on Plea Counsel's failure to advise him regarding all the sentencing consequences of his guilty plea. Specifically, Petitioner pled guilty under *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25 (1970) to offenses that required him to be on the sex offender registry, which also required that Petitioner comply with specific conditions of supervision and attend specific treatment demanding he accept responsibility for the offenses with polygraph testing (despite that he maintained his innocence at the plea hearing pursuant to the *Alford* plea). Plea Counsel did not review the specific conditions of sex offender registry with Petitioner nor did Counsel tell him about the specific treatment requiring him to accept responsibility.

- (7) Plea Counsel failed to interview Lt. Garrett Lominack and Inv. Robert Dennis of the Newberry County Sheriff's Office regarding the complaint filed by the victim's biological father, and their investigation into the complaint.
- (8) Plea Counsel failed to interview Investigator Castles of the Fairfield County Sheriff's Office regarding his investigation in this case.
- (9) Plea Counsel failed to interview Tova Clayton, Meredith Suber, Cindy Long, and Roger Long, regarding the allegations of the victim's disclosure of Petitioner's sexual abuse.
- (10) Plea Counsel abandoned his role as defense counsel by failing to conduct a reasonable investigation and adequately prepare for trial.

### ***PCR Evidentiary Hearing***

On January 30, 2020, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Robert E. Hood at the Lancaster County Courthouse for an evidentiary hearing on this PCR action (Fairfield County PCR action). (App. 55 – 227). The undersigned Counsel represented Petitioner, and Assistant Attorney General Samuel Key appeared on behalf of the State. The following witnesses testified at the evidentiary hearing: (1) Tova Clayton, Petitioner's ex-wife; (2) Robert Dennis, Newberry County Sheriff's Office; (3) Karen Castles, Fairfield County Sheriff's Office; (4) Tiffany Drew, Petitioner's cousin; (5) Barry Glymph, Petitioner's friend; (6) Kevin Chalk, Petitioner's friend; (7) Gwen Ray, Petitioner's Aunt; (8) Marsha Valasco, Petitioner's mother; (9) Michael Clayton, Sr., Petitioner's father; (10) Dave Anatra, private investigator; (11) Michael Clayton, Jr., Petitioner; and (12) George Speedy, Esq., Plea Counsel.

At the hearing, the PCR Court admitted the following exhibits submitted by Petitioner into evidence: (1) Affidavit of Tova Clayton from the divorce proceeding; (2) Text messages between Tova and Petitioner; (3) Investigator Robert Dennis's report; (4) Minor Child 1's mental

health records under seal; (5) Video recorded interviews of Tova, Minor Child 1, and Minor Child 2 under seal; (6) Investigator Castles's initial report; (7) Investigator Castles's notes; and (8) DPPP's standard conditions of sex-offender registry. (App. 228 – 261). PCR Counsel provided the PCR Court with a separate copy of the videos for viewing in preparation of the Court's decision.

***Tova Clayton (Petitioner's ex-wife)***

Petitioner's ex-wife and mother of Minor Child 1 and 2, Tova Clayton, testified at the hearing about her relationship with Petitioner and the alleged disclosure of abuse. (App. 69 – 99). PCR Counsel questioned Tova regarding the timeline of the allegations, her video recorded statement with Investigator Karen Castles of the Fairfield County Sheriff's Office, and the statements contained in Minor Child 1's mental health records. (App. 70, line 6 – 81, line 15). *See* (Order for Transport of Exhibit Nos. 4 and 5, mental health records and video recorded statements filed under seal). Specifically, the testimony addressed the inconsistencies and omissions regarding Tova's alleged knowledge of and failure to report the alleged abuse, Tova seeing Petitioner leave her daughter's bedroom with an erection, her daughter's denials of the abuse, the timing of her daughter's disclosures to her and their maternal grandmother, and the living situation in the home (moving in-and-out of the home on numerous times by her, her daughters, and her family members).

Tova conceded that Petitioner wanted a divorce in 2015 because of their relationship, his infidelity, and paramour becoming pregnant. (App. 81, lines 16-18; App. 83, lines 5-10). Tova also disclosed that her divorce affidavit did not reference any allegations of sexual abuse. (App. 81, line 21 – 82, line 7). Tova attested to the following information in her affidavit: (1) “[Petitioner] was my best friend”; (2) “[Petitioner] was like an Angel sent from God”; (3)

wanted to have a baby with Petitioner; (4) talked with Petitioner about having her tubes untied; (5) her and Petitioner trying to have a child together; and (6) “I [Tova] realized then that my best friend was back”. (App. 82, line 6 – 83, line 4; App. 228 – 229). Notably, Tova’s affidavit occurred after the dates of the alleged abuse by Petitioner.

PCR Counsel asked Tova about the text message exchange between Petitioner and Tova when Petitioner informed Tova of his decision to get a divorce: “[W]ere you shocked that [Petitioner] wanted a divorce”?; and Tova replied under oath, “I wasn’t shocked that he wanted a divorce. I know what the text messages said.” (App. 84, lines 7-11). Counsel then impeached Tova’s testimony by admitting text messages that occurred between her and Petitioner on January 6, 2016, into evidence:

Q: When [Petitioner] states in the text message that he would like to get divorced, what’s your response?

A: “On what grounds?”

Q: And what’s his response?

A: “On the grounds that we haven’t had a marriage in four years.”

...

A: “I’m shocked, actually speechless.”

...

A: “I never expected this.”

...

A: “Truly, I am devastated. Shocked.”

(App. 85, line 1 – 87, line 24; App. 230 – 236). Tova admitted that she was “crying like a baby” after Petitioner informed her of his intent to get divorced. Tova also admitted she had never told the police that Minor Child 1 and Minor Child 2 initially denied the allegations. (App. 87, line

25 – 88, line 5). Tova further admitted that the affidavit from their divorce failed to mention any abuse, based the grounds for divorce on adultery (Petitioner cheated on her and had a child with another woman), and noted Petitioner was like an Angel sent from God and could not have asked for a better partner. (App. 88, lines 20-23; App. 228 – 229).

Tova acknowledged that she knew Minor Child 2 had filed a complaint with the Fairfield County Sheriff's Office on June 23, 2016, just two days after the divorce decree was issued on June 21, 2016, and at no point did she ever call the police to report these allegations against Petitioner (App. 89, lines 3-22). Tova also conceded that after these allegations allegedly occurred and were disclosed, she and her adult daughters would subsequently stay and visit the residence. (App. 94, line 14 – 95, line 23). Tova further disclosed that she asked for \$900 per month in alimony during the divorce proceedings but was not awarded the money. (App. 97, line 8-12). Notably, Tova admitted that she was not present on the morning of the scheduled trial and eventual plea hearing. (App. 99, lines 6-7).

***Robert Dennis (Newberry County Sheriff's Office)***

Robert Dennis of the Newberry County Sheriff's Office testified at the hearing regarding the complaint filed in Newberry County. (App. 99, line 22 – 108, line 7). Specifically, Officer Dennis testified that the biological father of Minor Child 1, Kevin Harclerode, filed a complaint on December 07, 2011, alleging that Petitioner sexually abused his daughter. (App. 100, line 11 – 101, line 25; App. 237). Notably, Officer Dennis ultimately determined the complaint was unfounded and closed the investigation. (App. 105, lines 1-25).

***Karen Castles (Fairfield County Sheriff's Office)***

Investigator Karen Castles of the Fairfield County Sheriff's Office testified at the hearing regarding her investigation. (App. 108, line 16 – 124, line 1). Specifically, Investigator Castles

acknowledged the list of witness statements she obtained during her investigation. (App. 111, lines 4-17). Investigator Castles acknowledged that she interrogated Petitioner twice and he denied the allegations. Investigator Castles also admitted that Tova never told her about the allegation of seeing Petitioner with an erection after coming out of the Minor Child's room during their interview. (App. 111, line 18 – 112, line 5).

Investigator Castles acknowledged that she knew Minor Child 2 had filed the complaint with the Fairfield County Sheriff's Office on June 23, 2016 (two days after the divorce decree was issued). (App. 108, lines 25 – 109, line 21). Investigator Castles also agreed that she knew Minor Child 2 was angry at Petitioner for having a sexual encounter with her adult friend, Meredith Suber, prior to filing the criminal complaint against Petitioner. (App. 119, line 10 – 120, line 14; App. 238 – 260). Investigator Castles further conceded she had been told about Minor Child 1's mental health treatment, which contained inconsistencies with Tova's recorded interview and PCR testimony. (App. 115, line 17 – 117, line 6). *See* (Order for Transport of Exhibit Nos. 4 and 5, mental health records and video recorded statements filed under seal).

***Tiffany Drew (Petitioner's cousin)***

Petitioner's cousin, Tiffany Drew, testified at the hearing regarding her relationship with Petitioner and the Minor Children. (App. 124, line 6 – 132, line 18). Specifically, Ms. Drew testified that she had lived next door and spent a lot of time with the Minor Child 1 and Minor Child 2 and that Petitioner was an "excellent" father. (App. 124, line 12 – 127, line 7). Ms. Drew also testified that Minor Child 1 and Drew had a reputation for lying and getting people into trouble. (App. 127, lines 19-23). She further testified that Petitioner was the only disciplinarian for the Minor Children and that the girls did not like him for punishing them due to not following the rules. (App. 130, lines 1-12). Notably, Ms. Drew testified that Petitioner had a

reputation as a truthful person. (App. 130, lines 13-21).

***Barry Glymph (Petitioner's friend)***

Petitioner's co-worker and friend, Barry Glymph, testified about Petitioner's character. (App. 133 – 135). Specifically, Mr. Glymph testified that he had known Petitioner for 20 years and observed Petitioner as a stepfather to the Minor Children. (App. 133, line 17 – 134, line 25). Mr. Glymph also testified that Petitioner was a good father and that he trusted Petitioner. (App. 134, line 9 – 135, line 4). Notably, Mr. Glymph testified that he trusted Petitioner enough to let Petitioner watch his children. (App. 135, lines 17-20).

***Kevin Chalk (Petitioner's friend)***

Petitioner's co-worker and friend, Kevin Chalk, testified about Petitioner's character. (App. 136 – 139). Specifically, Mr. Chalk testified that he was roommates with Petitioner before the divorce and attested to Petitioner's good character. (App. 138, lines 12-25). Mr. Chalk also testified that he trusted Petitioner enough to let Petitioner watch his children, and that Plea Counsel never spoke to him in preparation for trial. (App. 139, lines 3-13).

***Gwen Ray (Petitioner's Aunt)***

Petitioner's aunt, Gwen Ray, testified about Petitioner's character and his relationship with Tova and the Minor Children. (App. 140 – 143). Specifically, Ms. Ray testified that Petitioner was a strict disciplinarian to the children. (App. 142, lines 1-6). Ms. Ray also testified as to where Tova and the children stayed in the home (i.e., which bedrooms). Ms. Ray further testified that Petitioner was rarely alone with the children, she trusted Petitioner around her children, and Petitioner had "incredible character". (App. 142, line 8 – 143, line 4).

***Marsha Valasco (Petitioner's mother)***

Petitioner's mother, Marsha Valasco, testified about her time living in the home with

Tova and the children. (App. 144 – 147). Specifically, Ms. Valasco testified that she lived with Petitioner, Tova, and the children in 2005. Ms. Valasco also corroborated that Petitioner was the only disciplinarian to the children. (App. 146, lines 19-22). She also testified that Tova's relationship with Petitioner was related to money and had negative things to say about Tova. (App. 147, lines 17-25).

***Michael Clayton, Sr. (Petitioner's father)***

Petitioner's father, Michael Clayton, Sr., testified about the conversations he witnessed between Petitioner and Plea Counsel on the morning of the scheduled trial and eventual plea hearing. (App. 148 – 154). Specifically, Mr. Clayton, Sr., testified that Plea Counsel seemed unprepared because he changed his strategy from not presenting any testimony to preserve last argument, then to having Petitioner testify without any preparation or character witnesses to testify. (App. 149, line 15 – 150, line 21; App. 151, lines 1-22). Clayton, Sr., also testified that Plea Counsel did not explain the specific conditions or required treatment of the sex offender registry, and that Petitioner felt pressured into pleading guilty. (App. 152, lines 1-17).

***Dave Anatra (private investigator)***

Private investigator, Dave Anatra, testified about the investigation he conducted for this PCR action. (App. 154 – 166). Specifically, Investigator Anatra testified that he interviewed Meredith Suber and confirmed that Minor Child 2 had a falling out with her based on a relationship she had with Petitioner when she was 18 years old prior to Minor Child 2 filing the complaint with the Fairfield County Sheriff's Department. (App. 162, line 17 – 163, line 15; App. 165, line 16 – 166, line 8).

***Michael Clayton, Jr. (Petitioner)***

Petitioner, Michael Clayton, Jr., testified that Plea Counsel failed to interview the

witnesses, failed to prepare him to testify, changed his trial strategy on the morning of trial, never recommended hiring a private investigator, and never discussed the conditions or the required treatment of the sex offender registry. (App. 166 – 195). Petitioner also testified that Plea Counsel had maintained his strategy was to not present any evidence at trial and that Plea Counsel failed to interview character witnesses who could have testified on his behalf despite Petitioner's participation prior to trial. (App. 170, line 22 – 171, line 15). Petitioner further testified that Plea Counsel never prepared him to testify. (App. 173, lines 2-7).

Furthermore, Petitioner also testified that Plea Counsel indirectly coerced him into pleading guilty under *Alford* by not having any witnesses subpoenaed for trial, changing his trial strategy of not presenting evidence on the morning of trial when he had not been prepared to testify, and focusing on his infant daughter and potential prison sentence. (App. 173, line 9 – 176, line 4). Notably, Petitioner maintained his innocence and testified that had Plea Counsel conducted a reasonable investigation, subpoenaed witnesses, and adequately prepared for trial, and not pressured him on the morning of trial to accept the plea deal, he would not have pled guilty and would have proceeded with the trial. (App. 176, line 5 – 177, line 7).

Petitioner testified that Plea Counsel did not inform him of the specific conditions of the sex offender or the treatment (and the conditions of treatment). (App. 177, line 15 – 179, line 22; App. 180, lines 4-22; App. 261). Petitioner further testified that he did not feel Plea Counsel was prepared to proceed with trial because Counsel had not attempted to interview any witnesses related to the case or any character witnesses who were available and ready to assist with his defense. (App. 181, line 12 – 182, line 14)

***George Speedy, Esq. (Plea Counsel).***

Plea Counsel, George Speedy, Esq., testified regarding his representation of Petitioner.

(App. 195 – 225). Plea Counsel admitted that he failed to interview or subpoena any witnesses in preparation for trial except for speaking with Investigator Castles and an investigator at the Solicitor’s Office. (App. 224, lines 15-19). Plea Counsel also acknowledged that Tova was material to the State’s case because of the inconsistencies (e.g., “She was going to be there, I was confident. I was told who the witnesses would be.” and “You’re assuming she didn’t testify, I’m going to assume she was going to testify). (App. 200, lines 15-18; App. 202, line 24 – 203, line 2). In response to why he had not obtained character evidence, Plea Counsel stated, “You know, in this case if you didn’t - - if they believed those two girls then it didn’t matter what you did after that, you were dead in the water, because that’s the meat of this case.” (App. 202, lines 14-18). Plea Counsel maintained that he did not believe any further investigation was necessary.

***Memorandums in Support and Opposition of PCR***

At the close of evidence, the PCR Court took the matter under advisement and allowed the parties to submit briefs instead of presenting closing arguments. Respondent submitted its Memorandum in Opposition to PCR via email on May 8, 2020, and Petitioner filed its Memorandum in Support of Granting PCR on May 12, 2020. (App. 262 – 280).

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