STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Fairfield County

John C. Hayes, III, Plea Judge
Robert E. Hood, Jr., Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001171

RECEIVED

May 24 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

MICHAEL CLAYTON, JR,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104114

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

witnesses. However, the post-conviction relief court properly denied relief, as the record firmly establishes Counsel's investigation was reasonable. The post-conviction relief relied on Counsel's credible testimony and properly denied relief. This Court should deny certiorari.

Counsel must, at a minimum, make some effort to interview potential witnesses identified by the defendant, and make an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case. *Edwards v. State*, 392 S.C. 449, 456, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011); *Walker v. State*, 407 S.C. 400, 405, 756 S.E.2d 144, 147 (2014). However, no particular set of detailed rules for counsel's conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688-689. "Representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another." *Id.* at 691. Therefore, judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. *Id.* at 689. Where counsel articulates a valid strategic reason for his action or inaction, counsel's performance should not be found ineffective. *Roseboro v. State*, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1996); *Underwood v. State*, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992); *Stokes v. State*, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992).

Further, "Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel's trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel." *Whitehead v. State*, 308 S.C. 119, 122, 417 S.E.2d 529, 531 (1992). In making a fair assessment of attorney performance, a court must make every effort to "eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689.

First, addressing Petitioner's general claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to conduct a reasonable investigation, at the evidentiary hearing, Counsel testified he reviewed all

the discovery in the case, discussed the discovery with Petitioner, viewed the recorded police interviews, and looked into the Newberry County charges. (App. 196–98). Petitioner provided Counsel with the information and court documentation from Petitioner and Mother’s divorce. Counsel testified he then used the discovery and the divorce documents to create a timeline to formulate and prepare his trial strategy. Petitioner also testified Counsel asked him to create a similar timeline for the two to compare in preparation for trial. (App. 203–04). Then, Counsel testified he decided his trial strategy would be to attack the victims’ and Mother’s credibility by showing the allegations were retaliation for the divorce. (App. 204).

The post-conviction relief court determined this testimony credible and controlling, finding Counsel was not deficient because Counsel’s investigation was reasonable. (App. 303-04). Specifically, the post-conviction relief court found “Counsel’s investigation and trial preparation well within the reasonable professional norms of criminal defense attorneys.” (App. 303). These credibility findings are afforded great weight on appeal. *See Foye*, 335 S.C. at 589, 518 S.E.2d at 267 (stating the reason appellate courts give great deference to the post-conviction relief court’s findings is because the court has the opportunity to directly observe the witnesses). There is evidence of probative value to support the post-conviction relief court’s findings and these findings are not controlled by an error of law. This Court should deny certiorari.

Second, Petitioner specifically argues Counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failure to interview Mother. At the evidentiary hearing, Counsel testified he did not interview Mother because he knew she would not speak to him about the case because she was an adverse witness. (App. 200). Additionally, Petitioner’s private investigator testified at the evidentiary hearing he unsuccessfully attempted to interview Mother. (App. 162). Based on the post-conviction relief court’s observation of Mother’s testimony at the evidentiary hearing, the court found Counsel’s

decision to not interview Mother was reasonable because “she was in fact an adverse witness who was not willing to aid in [Petitioner’s] defense.” (App. 304). Therefore, the post-conviction court properly concluded that Petitioner failed to show that Counsel was deficient for deciding not to interview Mother. There is evidence of probative value to support the post-conviction relief court’s findings and these findings are not controlled by an error of law. This Court should deny certiorari.

Third, Petitioner specifically argues Counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failure to investigate the Newberry County charge.¹ At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner testified he and Counsel briefly discussed the Newberry case, and no charges ever came out of the incident report. (App. 191). Similarly, Counsel testified he was aware of the Newberry report and had seen it was unfounded. Counsel stated he chose not to pursue it any further because he saw no value in the report, only risk. (App. 144). Investigator Robert Dennis explained the Newberry charge was initiated by the victims’ biological father. However, after further investigation, the report was unfounded because the allegations took place in Fairfield County, not Newberry County. (App. 104–05).

The post-conviction relief court found Counsel’s testimony he was aware of the report credible. Further, the post-conviction relief court found Counsel’s choice not to pursue the Newberry report any further because he saw no value in the report, only risk reasonable and valid because the report was declared unfounded, not because the allegations were untrue, but because

¹ At the evidentiary hearing, Investigator Robert Dennis of the Newberry County Sheriff’s Department testified he received a sexual abuse complaint on December 8, 2011, from the Victim 1’s and Victim 2’s father. Dennis explained the father stated his daughter told him she was inappropriately touched by Applicant, and the father told his daughter to she needed to report the abuse to the police. Dennis’s report was admitted into evidence without objection.

the allegations took place in a different jurisdiction—Fairfield County. (App. 309). Therefore, the post-conviction relief court found Counsel was not deficient for failing to investigate the Newberry County charge, or interview the investigators that initiated the report, based on Counsel’s reasonable strategy. *See Whitehead*, 308 S.C. at 122, 417 S.E.2d at 531 (“Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel’s trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel.”). There is evidence of probative value to support the post-conviction relief court’s findings and these findings are not controlled by an error of law. This Court should deny certiorari.

Fourth Petitioner alleges Counsel was ineffective for failing to interview potential character witnesses. At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner testified he told Counsel of witnesses he wanted called at trial, but Counsel explained to him that calling those witnesses did not fit into Counsel’s trial strategy. Petitioner recalled Counsel informing him he planned to attack the State’s witnesses’ inconsistencies to show reasonable doubt. Petitioner testified he agreed with this strategy. Petitioner stated that on the morning of trial, he was prepared to go to trial and not testify or present any character witnesses. Petitioner recalled Counsel suggested that he take the plea offer the morning of trial, but Counsel also told him they stood a good chance at trial. (App. 120). Counsel testified he was fully prepared to go to trial, and he told Petitioner he was prepared for trial the morning of trial. (App. 204). Counsel stated he spoke to everyone he believed he needed to in order to have a good understanding of the case and to understand the probability of Petitioner being convicted or acquitted. (App 224). Counsel testified he planned to attack the State’s witnesses’ inconsistencies at trial and preserve the last argument by not having Petitioner on the witness stand. (App. 216). Counsel testified he would not have called the witnesses presented at the post-conviction relief hearing because the risk of damaging testimony coming out was too

great. (App. 200–02).

The post-conviction relief court found Counsel’s articulated strategy of not presenting a defense, but rather attacking that State’s case through cross-examination of its witnesses, to be reasonable. *See Whitehead*, 308 S.C. at 122, 417 S.E.2d at 531 (“Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel’s trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel.”). Therefore, the post-conviction relief court properly concluded Counsel was not deficient for failing to investigate the character witnesses because Petitioner agreed with Counsel’s reasonable strategy.

In addressing prejudice, the post-conviction relief court found not credible Petitioner’s assertion he would have chosen to go to trial had his witnesses been present and ready to testify because Petitioner’s own testimony at the evidentiary hearing—that he was prepared to go to trial without presenting any evidence or testimony—conflicted that assertion. (App. 187; 306). Therefore, the post-conviction relief court properly concluded Petitioner failed to show he was prejudiced by Counsel’s alleged failure to interview character witnesses. There is evidence of probative value to support the post-conviction relief court’s findings and these findings are not controlled by an error of law. This Court should deny certiorari.

II. The post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional ineffectiveness of counsel as to Petitioner’s assertion his plea was involuntary where Petitioner knowingly and voluntarily chose to plead guilty pursuant to *Alford* to avoid a harsher sentence if convicted at trial after Counsel adequately prepared for trial and fully advised Petitioner of the sentencing exposure and consequences he faced by entering the plea.

Petitioner asserts Counsel failed to adequately prepare for trial based on an unreasonable trial strategy, provided coercive advice to plead guilty on the morning of trial, and failed to fully advise Petitioner of the sentencing consequences, rendering his plea involuntary. However, the

post-conviction relief court properly denied relief, as the record firmly establishes Petitioner actively engaged in the plea negotiation process, was properly advised of his potential sentence exposure if convicted at trial, and he chose to plead guilty pursuant to *Alford* to avoid a harsher sentence if convicted at trial. Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional ineffectiveness and was not entitled to relief on this claim. Accordingly, certiorari should be denied.

First, Petitioner argues his plea was involuntary because Counsel was unprepared based on an unreasonable trial strategy. However, as previously discussed, the post-conviction court properly found Counsel's articulated strategy of not presenting a defense, but rather attacking that State's case through cross-examination of its witnesses, to be reasonable. *See Whitehead*, 308 S.C. at 122, 417 S.E.2d at 531 ("Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel's trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel."). Further, Counsel testified he was fully prepared to go to trial. The post-conviction relief court found this testimony credible and dispositive. (App. 306). These findings should be given great deference on appeal. *See Foye*, 335 S.C. at 589, 518 S.E.2d at 267 (stating the reason appellate courts give great deference to the post-conviction relief court's findings is because the court has the opportunity to directly observe the witnesses). Accordingly, certiorari should be denied.

Second, Petitioner argues his plea was involuntary because Counsel provided coercive advice which caused him to plead guilty the morning of trial. Specifically, Petitioner claims he felt coerced due to Counsel being unprepared for trial, Counsel changing the trial strategy on the morning of trial and not preparing him to testify, and because there were no character witnesses subpoenaed to corroborate his credibility and reputation. However, the plea hearing transcript

clearly refutes Petitioner's claim his as the plea court conducted a thorough colloquy during the plea hearing.

During Petitioner's plea hearing, the plea court explained the meaning of an *Alford* plea. (App. 6). The plea court explained "while you're maintaining your innocence you have decided it's in your best interest based on the State's recommendation and your feeling that were you to go to trial a jury most probably or likely would find you guilty." Petitioner understood the meaning of an *Alford* plea. (App. 6). The plea court then explained the charges against Petitioner and the sentencing exposure Petitioner faced. Petitioner stated he understood. (App. 6–7). Petitioner affirmed he had not been promised or threatened into pleading guilty, he was not intoxicated, and he was pleading freely and voluntarily. (App. 8). The plea court then explained Petitioner's constitutional rights: to a jury trial; the presumption of innocence; the State always has the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt; to remain silent; to confront the State's witnesses; and the right to present witnesses in defense. (App. 8–9). Petitioner understood his constitutional rights, and Petitioner understood he waived those constitutional rights by pleading guilty. (App. 9).

The post-conviction relief court reviewed the plea transcript and determined the plea court conducted a thorough colloquy during the plea hearing, and Petitioner, under oath, informed the plea court no one had promised, threatened, or forced him into entering the plea. (App. 8). Additionally, at the post-conviction relief hearing, Petitioner and Counsel both testified it was Petitioner's decision to plead guilty. (App. 194; 222–23). Petitioner also testified Counsel did not force him to plead. (App. 192). Petitioner testified the morning of the plea, he knew he needed to accept the plea offer or go to trial later that day, and he chose to take the plea. (App. 189).

In sum, Petitioner's assertion that he pled guilty due to Counsel's coercion does not reflect the reality of the record—Petitioner chose to pleaded guilty to avoid a harsher sentence if convicted

at trial. Further, the post-conviction relief court found Counsel's sentencing advice was not coercive; it was reasonable. (App. 311). Accordingly, Petitioner cannot establish he is entitled to relief. *See Goins v. State*, 397 S.C. 568, 726 S.E.2d 1 (2012) (noting an applicant cannot establish prejudice where the defendant did not choose to plead guilty on basis of erroneous advice, but rather on basis of the State's offer to dismiss two charges and recommend a 10-year sentence); *Bennett v. State*, 371 S.C. 198, 203–04, 638 S.E.2d 673, 675 (2006) (“Where there has been a guilty plea, the applicant must prove prejudice by showing that, but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability he would not have pleaded guilty and instead would have insisted on going to trial.”). The post-conviction relief properly denied relief. This Court should deny certiorari as to this issue.

Third, Petitioner argues Counsel failed to adequately advise him of the sentencing consequences of pleading to the charges. Specifically, Petitioner alleges he was unaware he would be required to register as a sex-offender, comply with special conditions of supervision, and attend specific treatment demanding he accept responsibility for the offenses with polygraph testing. However, the record establishes that Petitioner had a full understanding of the consequences of his plea and the charges against him and Counsel did not misadvise Petitioner in regards to explaining the treatment requirements. Accordingly, certiorari should be denied.

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